

### The Global Community-Engaged Learning (GCEL) Rubric and Best Practice Guide

Michigan State University

*The Global Community-Engaged Learning Rubric* was written by the following Michigan State University faculty, staff, students, and community partners:

Renee Brown

Director, Center for Community Engaged Learning

Diane M. Doberneck Director for Faculty and Professional Development, University Outreach and Engagement

Jean-Paul Sewavi Education Abroad Coordinator/GCEL Coordinator, International Studies and Programs

Nicole C. Springer Director, Campus Compact for Michigan

Bobby Wilson, Jr., M.A. Graduate Project Coordinator, Student Affairs Administration

#### Suggested citation:

Brown, R., Doberneck, D. M., Sewavi, J., Springer, N. C., & Wilson Jr., B. (2020). *Global community-engaged learning rubric and best practice guide.* East Lansing: Michigan State University.

For more information about this document, contact:

### Center for Community Engaged Learning

University Outreach and Engagement Michigan State University

556 E. Circle Drive, Room 345 East Lansing, MI 48824-1113

Telephone: (517) 353-4400 FAX: (517) 353-6663

Website: <a href="mailto:communityengagedlearning.msu.edu">communityengagedlearning.msu.edu</a> E-mail: <a href="mailto:communityengagedlearning.wps.msu.edu">communityengagedlearning.msu.edu</a>

Copyright © 2020 Michigan State University. All rights reserved

Michigan State University is an affirmative-action, equal-opportunity employer.

### **Table of Contents**

Introduction	1
How to Use the Global Community-Engaged Learning Rubric	3
Partnership	5
Engagement	8
Academics	10
Sustainability	13
Assessment and Evaluation	16
Worldview	19
Conclusion	21
Invitation to Contribute to Continued Development of the Rubric	23
Acknowledgments	24
Additional References	25



### MICHIGAN STATE U N I V E R S I T Y

OFFICE FOR EDUCATION ABROAD

CENTER FOR COMMUNITY ENGAGED

UNIVERSITY OUTREACH AND ENGAGEMENT



### INTRODUCTION



The Global Community-Engaged Learning Rubric (GCEL) is the result of a multi-year collaboration among Michigan State University's Center for Community Engaged Learning, the Office of the Associate Provost for University Outreach and Engagement, and the Education Abroad Office. Michigan State University is a national leader in community-engaged learning, community engagement, and education abroad. As a consequence, the rubric's development drew upon interdisciplinary scholarship, best practices, and practitioner experience from multiple fields. This rubric was developed as a tool to support community partners, Academic and Student Affairs staff, faculty members, and unit administrators in program planning, implementation, and evaluation of ethical, respectful, high quality, and high-impact global community-engaged partnerships.

Michigan State University defines community-engaged learning as follows:

A teaching and learning strategy that integrates meaningful community partnerships with instruction and critical reflection to enrich the student learning experience, teach civic and social responsibility, and strengthen communities.

The rubric encompasses domestic and international partnerships as well as curricular and co-curricular programming. Please note global community-engaged learning may be known by other terms, including service learning, community engagement, community-based learning, civic engagement, alternative spring breaks, global volunteerism, and engagement abroad.

This rubric was developed through iterative revisions based on multiple conversations with community partners, dean's designees and representatives to the Education Abroad Office, and national colleagues at community engagement conferences, including the

International Association for Research on Service-Learning and Community Engagement. Their conceptual and practical comments were extremely helpful in finalizing this version of the rubric.

Organized by six community-university partnership principles, this rubric addresses partnership, engagement, academics, sustainability, assessment and evaluation, and worldview. Each section includes a definition for the principle, what that principle looks like as a success, a work in progress, or not meeting requirements, and a brief bibliography related specifically to that principle. We also provide overall references for global community-engaged learning and suggest a way for you to share your ideas about improving the rubric or your success stories using the rubric with your community partners.

We invite you to use this rubric as a way of starting a conversation, establishing shared expectations, developing shared agreements, reaching collaborative decisions, and sharing responsibilities with your community partners.

# HOW TO USE THE GLOBAL COMMUNITY-ENGAGED LEARNING RUBRIC



The *Global Community-Engaged Learning Rubric* may be used in a variety of ways, depending on your role(s) within the institution and partnership.

#### Community partners may find the rubric useful to:

- Understand what is meant by global community-engaged learning.
- Identify ways in which their community expertise may contribute to successful global community-engaged learning.
- Understand questions they should ask faculty and academic staff in establishing mutually identified expectations for global community-engaged learning.
- Identify ways to improve ongoing global community-engaged learning.

### Faculty, academic staff, and student affairs staff may find the rubric useful to:

- Initiate conversations with community partners about future global community-engaged learning.
- Plan for successful academic components of global community-engaged learning with community partners.
- Develop sections of the learning objectives, syllabus, or other student and community partner materials.
- Check in with current community partners to reflect on quality and excellence in ongoing global community-engaged learning.
- Identify areas for improvement with their ongoing global community-engaged learning partners.

#### Unit leaders may find the rubric useful to:

- Communicate and set expectations about academics, partnerships, and sustainability with new global community-engaged learning.
- Frame expectations, roles, and contributions with faculty and community partners who propose new global community-engaged learning.
- Talk with faculty about improving ongoing global community-engaged learning by aligning their work with best practices.
- Identify gaps between current and best practices in global community-engaged learning and, as a result, create appropriate professional development and support to close that gap.
- Review the unit's mix of programs to ensure global community-engaged learning meets minimum requirements for community engagement.

**Institutional leaders** for service-learning, community engagement, or education abroad may find the rubric useful to:

- Communicate and set expectations about academics, partnerships, and sustainability with new global community-engaged learning.
- Check in with existing program leaders to reflect on best practices in global community-engaged learning and potential improvements that could be made.
- Identify gaps between current and best practices in global community-engaged learning, and create appropriate professional development and support to close those gaps.
- Assess the extent to which global community-engaged learning meets minimum expectations.

### **PARTNERSHIP**



Global community engagement partnerships are formed around mutual expectations that connect the needs and goals of community partners with the needs and goals of faculty research, education, and student learning. A successful global community partnership takes time and is both intentional and inclusive of the varying needs of individuals with intersecting identities and life experiences. The partners serve as co-educators with a commitment to understanding and respect.

**Successful** global community partnerships may be described as:

- Partnership is driven by community identified needs and built on joint commitment, mutual respect, reciprocity, and trust.
- The responsibilities of all involved are clearly articulated, outlined, and agreed upon in a memorandum of understanding.
- Expertise of both community partners and university faculty is valued. There is an opportunity for assessment by the community partners.

Global community partnerships that are **making progress** may be described as:

- Partners have been identified, and there have been some opportunities for partners to meet and discuss their mutual goals.
- Discussions about roles, accountability, resources, and cultures have occurred. The partners have engaged in activities where trust may be established.
- There is a process of assessing and considering the expertise of all partners and educators.

Global community partnerships that **do not meet the requirements** may be described as:

- Partnership does not show qualities of an authentic relationship.
- Engagement strategy is not built around community-identified needs.
- Engagement is motivated by a one-sided research or teaching agenda only.
- Partners do not share similar interests.
- No established memorandum of understanding exists.
- The program leaders do not listen to or incorporate community needs.

#### **References and Additional Resources**

bangthetable. (n.d.). *Closing the loop: The power of thank you* [web page and online video resource]. Available from https://www.bangthetable.com/blog/the-power-of-thank-you

Center for Service-Learning and Civic Engagement. (2015). Service-learning toolkit: A guide for MSU faculty and instructors. East Lansing: Michigan State University. Retrieved from https://communityengagedlearning.msu.edu/upload/toolkits/Service-Learning-Toolkit.pdf

Doberneck, D. M., Bargerstock, B. A., McNall, M., VanEgeren, L., & Zientek, R. (2017). Community engagement competencies for graduate and professional students: Michigan State University's approach to professional development. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 24(1).

Doberneck, D. M., Glass, C. R., & Schweitzer, J. H. (2010). From rhetoric to reality: A typology of publicly engaged scholarship. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement 14*(5), 5-35.

Greene-Moton, E., Palermo, A., Flicker, S., & Travers, R. (2006). Trust and communication in a CBPR partnership: Spreading the "glue" and having it stick [Unit 4]. *In Developing and sustaining community-based participatory research partnerships: A skill-building curriculum.* Seattle, WA: Community-Campus Partnerships for Health. Retrieved from https://ccph.memberclicks.net/cbpr-curriculum-unit-4

Hicks, T., Seymour, L., & Puppo, A. (n.d.). *Authentic relationships in service-learning: Moving beyond traditional faculty and community partner roles* [The SLCE Future Directions Project]. Retrieved from https://slce-fdp.org/essays/thought-pieces/hicks-seymour-puppo/hicks-seymour-puppo-full-text

Kleinhesselink, K., Schooley, S., Cashman, S., Richmond, A., Ikeda, E., & McGinley, P. (Eds.). (2015). Sustaining a service-learning course [Unit 9]. In *Engaged faculty institute curriculum*. Seattle, WA: Community-Campus Partnerships for Health. Retrieved from https://ccph.memberclicks.net/assets/Documents/EFI/unit\_9.pdf

Littlepage, L., & Gazley, B. (2013). Examining service learning from the perspective of community capacity. In P. Clayton, R. Bringle, & J. Hatcher (Eds.), *Research on service learning: Conceptual frameworks* (Vol. 2B, pp. 419-437). Sterling, VA: Stylus.

Mishra, P. (n.d.) TPACK. Retrieved from https://www.punyamishra.com/research/tpack

Saltmarsh, J., & Hartley, M. (2011). Democratic engagement. In J. Saltmarsh & M. Hartley (Eds.), "To serve a larger purpose": Engagement for democracy and the transformation of higher education (pp. 14-26). Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.

Scannell, L., & Gifford, R. (2010). Defining place attachment: A tripartite organizing framework. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 30* (1–10).

Stoecker, R. (2009). *The unheard voices: Community organizations and service-learning.* Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.

Tinkler, A., Tinkler, B., & Tufo Strauss, G. (2014). Key elements of service-learning partnerships from the perspective of community partners. *Partnerships: A Journal of Service-Learning and Civic Engagement*, *5*(2), 137-152.

### **ENGAGEMENT**



The Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching (n.d.) defines community engagement as the collaboration between institutions of higher education and their larger communities (local, regional/state, national, global) for the mutually beneficial exchange of knowledge and resources in a context of partnership and reciprocity. Global community engagement is strengthened when partners agree to both the community's needs and the academic learning goals, and both are involved in the reflection.

**Successful** global community engagement may be described as:

- Partners have agreed to the format for faculty and student engagement.
- Plan for sustainability is in place (when appropriate).
- Both partner needs and learning/research goals have been addressed.
- Positively impacts the local community.
- Partner is included in reflection activities.

Global community engagement that is making progress may be described as:

- Engagement activities are used for relationship building.
- Resources and gaps have been identified through partner input.
- · Reflection activities are planned but specifics are lacking.

Global community engagement that **does not meet the requirements** may be described as:

- Transactional in nature.
- Expert-focused approach.
- Not connected to partner needs.
- Not planned with community partners.
- Does not make use of partner community resources.
- Does not include reflection activity.

#### **References and Additional Resources**

Community-Wealth.org. (n.d.). *Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching: Community Engagement*. Retrieved from <a href="https://community-wealth.org/content/carnegie-foundation-advancement-teaching-community-engagement">https://community-wealth.org/content/carnegie-foundation-advancement-teaching-community-engagement</a>

Doberneck, D. M., Bargerstock, B.A., McNall, M., VanEgeren, L., & Zientek, R. (2017). Community engagement competencies for graduate and professional students: Michigan State University's approach to professional development. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 24(1).

Doberneck, D. M., Glass, C. R., & Schweitzer, J. H. (2010). From rhetoric to reality: A typology of publicly engaged scholarship. *Journal of Higher Education Outreach and Engagement*, *14*(5), 5-35.

Hicks, T., Seymour, L., & Puppo, A. (n.d.). *Authentic relationships in service-learning: Moving beyond traditional faculty and community partner roles.* [The SLCE Future Directions Project.] Retrieved from http://slce-fdp.org/essays/fall-2015/thought-pieces/hicks-seymour-puppo/hicks-seymour-puppo-full-text

Littlepage, L., & Gazley, B. (2013). Examining service learning from the perspective of community capacity. In P. Clayton, R. Bringle, & J. Hatcher (Eds.), *Research on service learning: Conceptual frameworks* (Vol. 2B, pp. 419-437). Sterling, VA: Stylus.

Mishra, P. (n.d.) TPACK. Retrieved from https://www.punyamishra.com/research/tpack

Saltmarsh, J., & Hartley, M. (2011). Democratic engagement. In J. Saltmarsh & M. Hartley (Eds.), "To serve a larger purpose": Engagement for democracy and the transformation of higher education (pp. 14-26). Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.

Scannell, L., & Gifford, R. (2010). Defining place attachment: A tripartite organizing framework. *Journal of Environmental Psychology, 30,* 1–10.

Stoecker, R. (2009). *The unheard voices: Community organizations and service-learning.* Philadelphia, PA: Temple University Press.

### **ACADEMICS**



Global community-engaged learning combines academic coursework with the application of institutional resources to address challenges facing communities. It focuses on "scholarly activities related to research and/or teaching that involve the collaboration of students, community partners, and faculty as co-educators, co-learners, and co-generators of knowledge and that address questions of public concern" (Jameson, Clayton, Jaeger, & Bringle, p. 54).

**Successful** global community academics may be described as:

- Learning goals and syllabus were developed with significant partner input.
- Partners have been identified as co-educators and have an interest, understanding, and commitment to that role.
- Students and faculty are committed to working to achieve partner expectations.
- Faculty and staff purposefully connect important disciplinary concepts to the community engagement activities.
- Community partners, students, and faculty share roles and responsibilities as co-teachers and co-learners.

Global community academics that are **making progress** may be described as:

- The connection between the learning goals and the partnership engagement has been identified but not shared with or developed with the partners/co-educators.
- The faculty/staff member is engaged with the community partners and is communicating in a consistent manner.

- The faculty/staff member has worked directly with partners to identify the needs and expectations of the community partners and begun to build those into the syllabus.
- Community engagement activities are loosely related to the faculty members' disciplines.
- Community partners and students are not expected to contribute as coteachers and co-learners.

#### Global community academics that do not meet the requirements may be described as:

- There are no specific learning goals connected to the partner engagement.
- The partners are not identified as co-educators and the faculty/staff member is not involved in the partnership development.
- There is not clear and regular communication between the partners, faculty, and staff.
- There is not a clear connection between the overall course goals and the partner engagement.
- Community engagement activities are not related to the faculty member's discipline.
- The faculty/staff member retains all control over the student experience, with the partner serving as "placement site" only.

#### **References and Additional Resources**

Center for Service-Learning and Civic Engagement. (2015). Service-learning toolkit: A guide for MSU Faculty and Instructors. East Lansing: Michigan State University. Retrieved from https://communityengagedlearning.msu.edu/upload/toolkits/Service-Learning-Toolkit.pdf

Crabtree, R. (2008). Theoretical foundations of international service learning. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 15(1), 18-36.

Jameson, J. K., Clayton, P. H., Jaeger, A. J., & Bringle, R. G. (2012). Investigating faculty learning in the context of community-engaged scholarship. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 40-55.

Kleinhesselink, K., Schooley, S., Cashman, S., Richmond, A., Ikeda, E., &McGinley, P. (Eds). (2015). Sustaining a service-learning course [Unit 9]. *In Engaged faculty institute curriculum*. Seattle, WA: Community-Campus Partnerships for Health. Retrieved from https://ccph.memberclicks.net/assets/Documents/EFI/unit\_9.pdf

Kolb, D. (1984). Experiential learning: *Experience as the source of learning and development*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

National Audubon Society. (2013, April). *Influencing conservation action: What research says about environmental literacy, behavior, and conservation results.* New York: Author. Retrieved from https://cdn.naaee.org/sites/default/files/eepro/resource/files/influencingconservationaction\_3.pdf

Overby, L. (2016). Appendix A1. Teaching: Checklist for high engagement, high scholarship. In *Public Scholarship in Dance* (p. 105). Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Springer, N. C., & Casey, K. M. (2010). From "preflection" to reflection: Building quality experiences in academic service-learning (pp. 29-49). In H. E. Fitzgerald, C. Burack, & S. D. Seifer (Eds.), *Handbook of engaged scholarship: Contemporary landscapes, future directions. Vol. 2. Community-campus partnership.* East Lansing: Michigan State University Press.

Taylor, M. (1987). Self-directed learning: More than meets the observer's eye. In D. Boud & V. Griffin (Eds.), *Appreciating adults learning: From the learners' perspective* (pp. 179-196). London: Kogan Page.





We define sustainability as a continuous commitment, or an ongoing component which places a very high value on meaningful and sustainable service. The depth of relationships/partnerships are built and maintained, before, during, and after service. The partnership should never "end" after the engagement.

Successful global community sustainability may be described as:

- The university is attentive to the community partner's mission and vision and takes time to plan and understand the human dimension of the community partner's work.
- The university is mindful of the community partner's resources, and allows community partners to educate the next generation of individuals who are committed to more just, inclusive, and sustainable communities.
- The university remains flexible in making adjustments and changes along the way.
- The university and community members develop a timeline and track progress.
- There are many systematic approaches to ensure various community voices.
- A maintenance plan is created in partnership with the community members.
   In addition, there are no short-term or singular occurrence international volunteer programs.

Global community sustainability that is **making progress** may be described as:

- The university nurtures trustworthy relationships and allows participation, contributions, and ownership of the community in which the service takes place.
- The program utilizes local skills, experience, and expertise of the communities, while allowing the community members to drive the projects.
- The university conducts progress checks regarding the partnership.

Global community sustainability that **does not meet the requirements** may be described as:

- The university does not conduct progress checks about the partnership and does not communicate with the local community members to ensure sustainability.
- A maintenance plan is not included in project planning.
- The community perspectives and partnerships are both ignored and excluded in the planning, design, implementation, and evaluation of the projects.
- The university fails to bring community members to the center of the conversations.

#### **References and Additional Resources**

Campus Compact. (2014, October 27). Fair trade learning: Summary & key documents. Retrieved from https://compact.org/ftl

Crabtree, R. (2008). Theoretical foundations for international service-learning. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 15(1), 18-36.

Dewey, J. (1938). *Experience and education*. New York: Kappa Delta Pi.

Dostilio, L. D., Brackmann, S. M., Edwards, K. E., Harrison, B., Kliewer, B. W., & Clayton, P. H. (2012). *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, *19*(1), 17-32.

Evert, J. (2014). How does global service-learning become a dis-service in health settings? Commentary from Child Family Health International. Retrieved from http://globalsl.org/cfhi

Fry, S. W. (2012). From charity to solidarity. Kappan, 93(8), 76-77.

Fry, S. W., Griffin, S., & Kirshner, J. (2012). Global citizenship: Teachers and students in Belize and the U.S. take action together. *Social Studies and the Young Learner*, *25*(2), 23-27.

Furco, A. (1996). Service-learning: A balanced approach to experiential education. In *Expanding boundaries: Serving and learning*. Washington, DC: Corporation for National Service.

Hartman, E. (2015a). The utility of your students: Community partners' critique. In V. Jagla, J. Strait, & A. Furco (Eds.), *Service-learning pedagogy: How does it measure up?* (pp. 231–256). Charlotte, NC: Information Age Publishing.

Hoffa, W. (2007). A history of U.S. study abroad: Beginnings to 1965. A special publication of *Frontiers: The Interdisciplinary Journal of Study Abroad*. Carlisle, PA: Forum on Education Abroad.

Illich, I. (1968, April 20). "To hell with good intentions." Presentation to the *Conference on InterAmerican Student Projects (CIASP)*, Cuernavaca, Mexico.

Institute for International Education. (2015). *Open doors*. New York: Author. Retrieved from http://www.iie.org/en/Research-and-Publications/Open-Doors

Kozak, J., & Larsen, M. A. (2015). Conclusion: ISL and host communities—relationships and responsibility. In M. A. Larsen (Ed.), *International service learning: Engaging host communities* (263-276). New York: Routledge.

Lasker, J. N. (2016). Hoping to help: *The promises and pitfalls of global health volunteering*. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

Nolting, W., Donohue, D., Matherly, C., & Tilman, M. (2012). *Internships, service learning, and volunteering abroad: Successful models and best practices.* Washington, DC: NAFSA: Association of International Educators.

Reynolds, N. (2014). What counts as outcomes? Community perspectives of an engineering partnership. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 20(1), 79-90.

Uribe, M., & Mejia-Nathenson, S. 2008. *Literacy essentials for English language learners*. New York: Teachers College Press.

Vande Berg, M., Paige, R. M., & Lou, K. H. (Eds.). (2012). *Student learning abroad: What our students are learning, what they're not, and what we can do about it.* Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.

Wilhelm, J., Douglas, W., & Fry, S. (in press). *The activ(ist) learner: Inquiry, literacy, and service to make learning matter.* New York: Teachers College Press.

Wilhelm, J. D., & Novak, B. (2011). *Teaching literacy for love and wisdom: Being the BOOK and being the CHANGE*. New York: Teachers College Press.

## ASSESSMENT AND EVALUATION



Assessment for community-engaged learning is designed to evaluate both cognitive and noncognitive outcomes of the service experience. Cognitive outcomes are directly related to the educational objectives indicated by the faculty/instructor. Noncognitive outcomes often look at concepts such as moral development, self efficacy, or even how students have changed in their civic attitudes.

Using Kolb's experiential learning model (1984), we have identified seven components in the process of implementing quality global community-engaged learning: investigation, preparation, engagement, reflection, connection, evaluation, and demonstration. During the creation of the evaluation, there are two questions that should be asked. The first is around the outcomes to be assessed. Deciding between student, community, project, partnership, institutional, or personal outcomes may include using a combination of them. The second question is about how you will measure both progress and success of your chosen outcomes. This rubric provides guidelines for creating an assessment/evaluation plan that meets all the requirements for a quality program.

When developing your assessment/evaluation plan, pay attention to the type of assessment you plan to use. Formative assessment is done either before or during the course, and the goal is to improve project design and make course corrections as needed. Many times this is done by way of reflection papers or small group check-ins. Summative assessment occurs at the end of the course to show impact and is conducive to using quantitative methods. No matter what you decide to do, it is important to think about using a variety of perspectives and to include your community partner in the process.

Successful global community assessment and evaluation may be described as:

- Evaluates student learning, faculty efficacy, project success, and community impact.
- Specific outcomes have been selected and agreed upon with community partners and address a variety of perspectives.
- Student learning is assessed using guided reflection practices that relate to the community engagement experience.
- Project success is defined collaboratively by the university and the community partner(s).
- Resources and learning are shared with the local community and partners.
- The university and community partners should be able to identify the feedback and describe in detail the adjustments that need to be made. Additionally, they should suggest priorities for the actions to be taken, reflecting those most in need of attention.

Global community assessment and evaluation that is **making progress** may be described as:

- Relies on only one perspective (i.e. student learning) to evaluate the outcome of the experience.
- Community partners had limited input in chosen outcomes.
- Does not include reflection that connects back to the course.
- Consideration of community partner needs is expressed but the community partner is not formally included in the assessment plan.
- Resources and learning are not shared with the local community and partners.
- Feedback does not provide actionable outcomes.

Global community assessment and evaluation that **does not meet the requirements** may be described as:

- No assessment plan indicated.
- Absence of reflection strategy.
- Community partners not involved in any part of assessment process.
- Process feedback (formative assessment) not provided.

#### **References and Additional Resources**

Association for American Colleges & Universities (n.d.). *What is value?* Retrieved from http://www.aacu.org/value/index.cfm

Bringle, R. G., Phillips, M. A., & Hudson, M. (2004). *The measure of service-learning: Research scales to assess student experiences*. American Psychological Association.

Bringle, R., & Steinberg, K. (2010). Educating for informed community involvement. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 46*, 428-441.

Gelmon, S. B., Holland, B. A., & Spring, A. (2018). *Assessing service-learning and civic engagement: Principles and techniques* (2nd ed.). Campus Compact.

Kolb, D. (1984). *Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Mabry, J. B. (1998). Pedagogical variations in service-learning and student outcomes: How time, contact, and reflection matter. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, *5*, 32-47.

Moely, B. E., Mercer, S. H., Ilustre, V., Miron, D., & McFarland, M. (2002). Psychometric properties and correlates of the Civic Attitudes and Skills Questionnaire (CASQ): A measure of students' attitudes related to service learning. *Michigan Journal of Community Service Learning*, 8(2), 15-26.

Rhodes, T. (2010, January 14). Assessing outcomes and improving achievement: Tips and tools for using rubrics. Association of American Colleges and Universities. Available from <a href="https://www.aacu.org/publications-research/publications/assessing-outcomes-and-improving-achievement-tips-and-tools-using">https://www.aacu.org/publications/assessing-outcomes-and-improving-achievement-tips-and-tools-using</a>





Issues of race, class, gender, culture, power, and privilege influence all interactions within global community-engaged learning. It is important to be cognizant of these issues and work to create a program that is inclusive and produces quality learning outcomes for all participants.

While this rubric covers issues of diversity into planning and implementation of community-engaged learning, it is important that everyone also considers their own positionality within the course/project. It is recommended that participants recognize the value of cultural humility and utilize reflective practices with community partners as approaches to engaging in a respectful and effective manner.

A **successful** global community worldview may be described as:

- Provides knowledge of cultural worldview frameworks.
- Focus is on both verbal (e.g. learning basic conversational language) and nonverbal communication (e.g. symbols, gestures).
- · Curiosity and increased openness are fostered.
- The community partner gives information about the perspective of the community using local knowledge.
- Students, faculty, and the community are prepared for working with diverse communities using training programs, readings, dialogue, and reflection.
- All activities lead to enhanced self-awareness as indicated by the appropriate assessment tool.

A global community worldview that is **making progress** may be described as:

- Attention to diversity comes in the form of third-party interactions only.
- Students are asked to read about the community without really experiencing it.
- Students participate in training programs that are not specific to the community with whom they will work.
- No assessment of student change is indicated.

A global community worldview that **does not meet the requirements** may be described as:

- Constituents are not prepared with knowledge, skills, and behaviors necessary to engage diverse communities.
- Students do not hear from or meet the community partners until they arrive onsite.

#### **References and Additional Resources**

Gallardo, M. E. (Ed.) (2013). *Developing cultural humility: Embracing race, privilege, and power.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Jurin, R. R., Roush, D., & Danter, D. (2010). Communicating across cultures (pp.189-203). In R. R. Jurin, D. Roush, & D. Danter (Eds.), *Environmental communication: Skills and principles for natural resource managers, scientists, and engineers.* London: Springer Science + Business Media.

Kirwan Institute for the Study of Race and Ethnicity. (2018). *State of the science: Implicit bias review.* Columbus: The Ohio State University.

M-GUS (Miville-Guzman Universality-Diversity Scale). (n.d.) Wabash National Study of Liberal Arts Education. Retrieved from https://www.washburn.edu/academics/general-education-files/MGUDS.pdf

Sue, D. W., & Rivera, D. (2010, October 5). Racial microaggressions in everyday life: Is subtle bias harmless? *Psychology Today* [website]. Retrieved from https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/microaggressions-in-everyday-life/201010/racial-microaggressions-in-everyday-life

Tatum. B. D. (1997). Complexity of identity (Ch. 2, pp. 18-28). In B. D. Tatum, *Why are all of the Black kids sitting together in the cafeteria? And other conversations about race*. New York: Basic Books.

Tervalon, M., & Murray-Garcia, J. (1998). Cultural humility versus cultural competence: A critical distinction in defining physician training outcomes in multicultural education. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, *9*(2),117-125.

### CONCLUSION



In higher education, it is unique for education abroad programs, outreach and engagement units, and community-engaged learning centers to come together, work together, and create together. The relationship between these types of offices at Michigan State University has been in the making for nearly a decade. While each unit at MSU works intentionally on separate missions with a variety of interwoven goals, three dimensions of this collective work are critical to all: global community partnerships, global engagement scholarship, and global education. The shared interest and shared intent of this rubric design project was to create an approach to global community engagement that is equitable and inclusive.

MSU's Education Abroad Program is committed to developing authentic global community partnerships wherein students and faculty have the opportunity to learn about global communities in ways that are supportive and aligned with the goals and plans of that community.

Michigan State University's Office for Education Abroad partnered with Adanu, a Ghanaian-led nonprofit organization, to host the 2019 Global Community Engaged Learning Symposium in Ho, Ghana.

From June 24<sup>th</sup>-29<sup>th</sup>, 2019, participants from the United States, Ghana, Togo, Burkina Faso, Uganda, and Kenya discussed best practices of community-engaged learning. The symposium included keynote speakers, workshops, poster presentations, panels, and field trips to the Ghanaian community partners.

The symposium included best practices of community-engaged learning, which is the basis of this toolkit. Keynotes and workshops from the symposium have been divided into

the following themes: community-engaged learning course design, ethical engagement, and assessment and evaluation.

Several years ago, the Office for Education Abroad convened a group of MSU faculty and staff who had been working on community engagement abroad programs to share their practice and to identify successful program design options. The work around global community-engaged learning (GCEL) has continued, culminating in an international symposium in Ghana in summer 2019 and ongoing work on an MSU rubric for high quality GCEL programs.

The Center for Community Engaged Learning at MSU is committed to supporting faculty, student affairs staff, students, and community partners with the appropriate tools for community-engaged learning. The Center teaches that good community partner practice is based on trusting relationships that allow participation, contributions, and ownership by the community in which service takes place. The long-standing relationship between the Office of Education Abroad and organizational alignment with University Outreach and Engagement has allowed for the Center to further the understanding of good partnership practices with new faculty, student affairs staff, and communities. This furthers the Center's mission of preparing students for lifelong civic and social responsibility.

University Outreach and Engagement at MSU is committed to supporting community engagement scholarship and practice, domestically and internationally. The unit serves the entire faculty body, their students, and community partners, by providing resources, workshops, and other learning opportunities focused on ethical and respectful community engagement. The collaboration with the Office of Education Abroad and UOE's own Center for Community Engaged Learning has enhanced the unit's ability to support a broader range of global community partnerships. Important outcomes from this institutional collaboration include an edited book about community engagement and study abroad, this global community-engaged learning rubric, and the symposium on global community-engaged learning in Ho, Ghana, in 2019.

Campus Compact for Michigan has a foundational relationship with Michigan State University. In partnership with the Center for Community Engaged Learning, the Office of Education Abroad, and University Outreach and Engagement, CCMI worked collaboratively on the development of resources and support for Michigan and the broader Campus Compact network, expanding the conversation and work in Michigan to a global context and strengthening the network around community-engaged learning and regional partnerships.

## **INVITATION TO** CONTRIBUTE TO CONTINUED DEVELOPMENT OF

THE RUBRIC

The Global Community-Engaged Learning Rubric was developed as a tool for community partners, academic staff, faculty members, and administrators to establish respectful and ethical community-university partnerships. We invite you to use this rubric as a way of starting a conversation, establishing shared expectations, developing shared agreements, reaching collaborative decisions, and sharing responsibilities with your community partners.

We would like to hear about how you used this rubric. Please contact the MSU Center for Community Engaged Learning at communityengagedlearning@vps.msu.edu to learn how to share your story and provide feedback.



The authors would like to thank the many people who have reviewed the rubric and suggested clarifications and improvements, namely the MSU Education Abroad faculty members whose programs have service-learning and community engagement components, MSU college designees to the Education Abroad Office advisory council, MSU Network for Global Civic Engagement, and community partners at the Global Community-Engaged Learning Symposium at Ho, Ghana.

# ADDITIONAL REFERENCES



Bringle, R. G., Hatcher, J. A., & Jones, S. G. (Eds.). (2011). *International service learning: Conceptual frameworks and research*. Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.

Green, P. M., & Johnson, M. (2014). Crossing boundaries: *Tensions and transformations in International Service-Learning*. Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.

Hartman, E., Kiely, R., Boettcher, C., & Friedrichs, J. (2018). *Community-based global learning: The theory and practice of ethical engagement at home and abroad.* Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.

Kiely, R. (2005). Transformative international service learning. *Academic Exchange Quarterly*, 9(1), 275-281.

Kleinhesselink, K., Schooley, S., Cashman, S., Richmond, A., Ikeda, E., & McGinley, P. (Eds.). (2015). Engaged faculty institute curriculum. Seattle, WA: Community-Campus Partnerships for Health. Retrieved from

https://ccph.memberclicks.net/assets/Documents/EFI/engaged\_curriculum\_9.22.15%20final.pdf

Larsen, M. (Ed). (2017). *International service learning: Engaging host communities*. New York: Routledge.

Clinical and Translational Science Awards Consortium Community Engagement Key Function Committee Task Force on the Principles of Community Engagement. (2011, June). *Principles of Community Engagement* (2nd ed.) [NIH Publication No. 11-7782]. Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health. Retrieved from

https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/communityengagement/pdf/PCE\_Report\_508\_FINAL.pdf

Tryon, E., & Steinhaus, N. (2016). Working through the challenges of globally engaged research. In M. Beckman & J. F. Long (Eds.), *Community-based research: Teaching for community Impact* (pp. 173-190). Sterling, VA: Stylus Publishing.

## **NOTES**

### THE GLOBAL COMMUNITY-ENGAGED LEARNING RUBRIC AND BEST PRACTICE GUIDE

Renee Brown, Diane M. Doberneck, Jean-Paul Sewavi, Nicole C. Springer, and Bobby Wilson, Jr.

**OCTOBER 2020** 

MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY

OFFICE FOR EDUCATION ABROAD

CENTER FOR COMMUNITY ENGAGED LEARNING

UNIVERSITY OUTREACH AND ENGAGEMENT